Hippocampal volumetry in mild cognitive impairment

Doctoral thesis by

Carl Eckerström



Section of Psychiatry and Neurochemistry Institute of Neuroscience and Physiology Sahlgrenska Academy at University of Gothenburg

Cover: Detail from *De humani corporis fabrica* by Andreas Vesalius (1514-1564)

ISBN: 978-91-628-8162-7

"Worse by far than all bodily hurt is dementia: for he who has it no longer knows the names of his slaves or recognized the friend with whom he has dined the night before, or those whom he has begotten and brought up. Yes, by a cruel will he cuts off his own flesh and blood and leaves all his estate to Phiale — so potent was the breath of that alluring mouth which had plied its trade for so many years in her narrow archway."

Juvenal (60-140 AD)

Abstract

Dementia is a syndrome with cognitive decline as a prominent feature. MCI is similarly a syndrome of cognitive decline, albeit with much subtler symptoms, and has been identified as a condition at risk for progression to dementia. A considerable clinical challenge lies in identifying MCI patients with an underlying dementia disorder. The overall aim of this thesis is to examine hippocampal volume in MCI with regard to prognostics.

Currently, Alzheimer's disease (AD) and vascular dementia are the two most important causes of dementia. Subcortical ischemic vascular dementia (SIVD), characterized by white matter lesions (WMLs), is considered the most important cause of vascular dementia in the elderly. Hippocampal atrophy has been identified as a common feature of AD and increasing evidence suggests that hippocampal atrophy is present in SIVD as well.

In Paper I, baseline hippocampal volume was studied in MCI patients who either converted or remained stable and in a control group. In Paper II, the predictive value of hippocampal volume was examined alone and in combination with CSF biomarkers A β 42 and T-tau, respectively. In Paper III, the amount of WML was measured and compared with hippocampal volume in a group of MCI patients with different clinical outcomes. Finally, the possible association between hippocampal volume and performance on psychometric test was evaluated.

It was found that MCI patients subsequently converting to dementia have smaller hippocampi than stable MCI patients. Hippocampal volume seems to be a useful marker in MCI patients with different underlying disorders. It can therefore be argued that hippocampal volume may be viewed as a broad cognitive marker. Hippocampal volume was also found to supplement the prognostic ability of CSF A β 42 and T-tau in MCI. Furthermore, measurement of WML shows that WML volume is related to hippocampal volume in patients with high WML burden, suggesting that WMLs may be involved in the development of hippocampal atrophy in SIVD. Left hippocampal volume was consistently a better prognostic marker than right hippocampal volume. When evaluating their respective association with psychometric test performance, the left hippocampus was found to be more closely related to test performance.

4

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Demens är ett syndrom - en kombination av symtom. Ett av de mest framträdande symtomen är en gradvis försämring av de kognitiva funktionerna (hjärnans tankefunktioner, exempelvis minne). Lindrig kognitiv störning (mild cognitive impairment; MCI) är ett tillstånd där de kognitiva funktionerna är nedsatta, dock inte lika uttalat som vid demens. Många MCIpatienter försämras inte, men MCI har visats vara ett risktillstånd för kognitiv försämring och tillståndet utgör ett förstadie till flera demenssjukdomar.

En utmaning för sjukvården består i att identifiera de MCI-patienter som har en underliggande demenssjukdom. För att utreda om en person har en begynnande demenssjukdom används en kombination av metoder. Hjärnavbildning ger information om eventuella skador i hjärnans strukturer, exempelvis i nervcellskärnan hippocampus som är nödvändig för att lagra minnen. Analys av ryggvätska visar om proteinnivåerna i hjärnans skyddande vätska – cerebrospinalvätskan – är onormala. Dessa refereras ofta till som "biomarkörer". Neuropsykologiska tester används för att undersöka minnet och andra av hjärnans funktioner.

Alzheimers sjukdom och vaskulär (kärlrelaterad) demens är de två vanligaste orsakerna till demens. Småkärlssjuka, som karaktäriseras av skador i hjärnans vita substans, bedöms vara den viktigaste typen av vaskulär demens hos äldre. Förtvining av hippocampus har visats vara ett vanligt fynd vid Alzheimers demens och det finns tecken på att hippocampus minskar även vid småkärlssjuka. Huvudsyftet för denna avhandling är att undersöka storleken på hippocampus vid lindrig kognitiv störning för att se om denna information kan ge vägledning avseende framtida sjukdomsutveckling.

- (i) I det första delarbetet studerades hippocampus storlek hos MCI-patienter som antingen hade utvecklat demens två år efter mätningen eller inte hade försämrats avseende kognitiv funktion. En grupp friska kontrollpersoner studerades också. Resultaten visade att MCI-patienter som senare utvecklade demens hade mindre hippocampus än oförändrade MCI-patienter och kontroller. Detta gällde oavsett vilken typ av demens som patienterna utvecklade. Slutsatsen är att storleken på hippocampus har ett samband med försämrad kognitiv funktion och demens, för flera olika demenstyper.
- (ii) I det andra delarbetet j\u00e4mf\u00f6rdes hippocampusvolymerna med de mest anv\u00e4nda demensmark\u00f6rerna i cerebrospinalv\u00e4tska. Studien visade att f\u00f6rm\u00e4gan att f\u00f6ruts\u00e4ga sjukdom f\u00f6rb\u00e4ttrades hos biomark\u00f6rerna av att kombineras med m\u00e4tt p\u00e4 hippocampusstorlek.
- (iii) I det tredje delarbetet mättes graden av vitsubstansförändringar i en blandad grupp MCI-patienter och jämfördes med storleken på hippocampus. Resultaten visade att det fanns ett samband mellan uttalad vitsubstansskada och minskad hippocampus,

vilket tyder på att vitsubstansskada kan vara delaktig i en process som leder till minskad hippocampus.

 (iv) Slutligen utvärderades sambandet mellan hippocampusvolym och prestation på neuropsykologiska test. Vänster hippocampus visades genomgående vara en bättre markör för kognitiv försämring än höger hippocampus. Vänster hippocampus hade en starkare koppling till neuropsykologiska testresultat än höger hippocampus.

Sammanfattningsvis visar resultaten från avhandlingen att minskad hippocampus har ett samband med framtida demens, och att hippocampusmätning är ett kliniskt användbart instrument.

Table of contents

List of origi	inal papers	10
Abbreviatio	ons	11
Introductio	n	
	Dementia, mild cognitive impairment and aging	12
	Dementia	12
	Mild cognitive impairment	14
	Aging	14
	Dementia disorders	15
	Alzheimer's dementia	16
	Vascular dementia	17
	Mixed dementia	18
	The hippocampus	18
	Asymmetry	20
	White matter lesions	21
	Diagnostic tools for the investigation of cognitive decline	22
	Cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers	22
	Psychometric markers	22
	Neuroimaging	23
Objectives		24
Material		25
	The Göteborg MCI study	25
	MCI classification procedure	25
	Dementia diagnostic criteria	25
	Healthy controls	25
	Study participants	26
Method		27

	Imaging in Papers I and II	27
	Imaging in Paper III	30
	Statistical analyses	31
Results		32
	Hippocampal volume in converting and stable MCI patients	32
	Longitudinal change in hippocampal volume	32
	Hippocampal volume in MCI patients converting to AD or SIVD	33
	Combination of hippocampal volume and CSF biomarkers in MCI	35
	White matter lesions and hippocampal volume	37
	Hippocampal volume and psychometric performance	40
Discussion		41
	Hippocampal volume as a broad cognitive marker in MCI	41
	Hippocampal volume change and cognitive function	42
	Hippocampal volume and CSF biomarkers in MCI	42
	White matter lesions and hippocampal volume	43
	Hippocampal asymmetry and psychometric performance	44
	Limitations	45
Conclusions	3	46
Future dire	ctions	47
	Trajectories of hippocampal volume loss	47
	WML subtypes	47
References		47
Acknowledg	gements	55

List of original papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, referred to in the text by their roman numerals:

- I. Eckerström C, Olsson E, Borga M, Ekholm S, Ribbelin S, Rolstad S, Starck G, Edman A, Wallin A, Malmgren H. Small baseline volume of left hippocampus is associated with subsequent conversion of MCI into dementia: the Göteborg MCI study. J Neurol Sci. 2008 Sep 15;272(1-2):48-59.
- II. Eckerström C, Andreasson U, Olsson E, Rolstad S, Blennow K, Zetterberg H, Malmgren H. Edman H, Wallin A. Combining hippocampal volume and CSF biomarkers improves predictive value in MCI. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2010;29:294-300
- III. Eckerström C, Olsson E, Klasson N, Bjerke M, Göthlin M, Jonsson M, Rolstad S, Malmgren H, Wallin A, Edman Å. High white matter lesion load is associated with hippocampal atrophy in MCI. Manuscript.

Abbreviations

Αβ42	The 42 amino acid long amyloid beta peptide
AD	Alzheimer's disease
АроЕ	Apolipoprotein E
CDR	Clinical Dementia Rating
CSF	CerebroSpinal Fluid
СТ	Computer Tomography
EEG	ElectroEncephaloGraphy
GDS	Global Deterioration Scale
MCI	Mild Cognitive Impairment
MCI-MCI	Mild Cognitive Impairment remaining stable
MCI-c	MCI Cognitive Impairment converting to dementia
MCI to AD	Mild Cognitive Impairment converting to Alzheimer's disease
MCI to non AD	Mild Cognitive Impairment converting to dementia other than AD
MCI-s	Mild Cognitive Impairment remaining stable
MCI-Vasc	Mild Cognitive Impairment converting to Vascular Dementia or mixed dementia
MMSE	Mini Mental State Examination
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
NFT	NeuroFibrillary Tangles
SIVD	Subcortical Ischemic Vascular Dementia
SP	Senile Plaques
SPECT	Single Photon Emission Computer Tomography
T-tau	Total levels of the protein tau
VaD	Vascular Dementia
WMLs	White Matter Lesions

Introduction

Dementia, mild cognitive impairment and aging

Dementia and mild cognitive impairment are syndromes or clusters of symptoms that are believed to be linked. The most important risk factor for dementia and mild cognitive impairment is high age.

Dementia

Dementia is defined as cognitive impairment and a decreased ability to perform the tasks of everyday life [1]. Dementia is not an illness in itself, but rather a syndrome of cognitive and functional impairment secondary to a disease of, or damage to, the central nervous system. The incidence of dementia is highly age-related and it is estimated that the prevalence of dementia doubles every five years from 1.5% in 60-69 years old to 40% in persons over 90 years old [2]. As life expectancy increases worldwide it is estimated that the prevalence of dementia will increase from 24 million people today to 81 million people in 2040 [3]. Dementia does not only lead to suffering for the patient and next of kin, but also poses a great challenge to the healthcare system. In Sweden, the estimated yearly cost for dementia is SEK 40 billion [4]. In the United Kingdom the cost for cognitively impaired patients living in institutions is estimated to £4.6 billion [3].

Historically, the view on dementia has differed. The first written description of age-dependent cognitive decline dates back to Greek and Roman philosophers and physicians in the 7th century BC [5]. Aging in itself was seen as an illness and Hippocrates observed that "the entire person is ill from the moment of his birth" [6].Dementia was then regarded as an inevitable process of mental decline caused by aging. Pythagoras noted that the development of new skills early in life reverses later on and that this natural regression begins at the age of 60 [5]. This view persisted until studies by Giovanni Battista Morgagni (1682-1771), showing that distinct morphological changes to the bodily organs could lead to illness, paved the way for the organic view of disease [6]. Under the influence of materialism and humanism,

dementia was gradually recognised as a condition separated from normal aging [5]. In 1907, Alois Alzheimer published a case report on Auguste Deter, a 50-year old woman suffering from progressive confusion and hallucinations. The report included a neuropathological examination, describing senile plaques and neurofibrillary tangles. Although Alzheimer's report was not the first description of plaques and tangles, and despite the fact that a clinicopathological study with 12 patients describing the same changes was published the same year [7], Emil Kraepelin named the disease after Alzheimer in his influential textbook published in 1910 [7]. In the first part of the 20th century, dementia was considered to be caused by stiffening of the blood vessels in the brain and Alzheimer's disease (AD) was considered an unusual presenile condition [8]. In the later part of the 20th century, the finding that elderly dementia patients had senile plaques [9] shifted the focus from vascular causes towards a more AD oriented view. Further evidence for the importance of senile plaques came with the discovery that familiar forms of AD had mutations in genes encoding amyloid precursor protein (APP) or APP cleaving enzymes [10,11], which lead to the proposal of the amyloid cascade hypothesis [12]. The amyloid cascade hypothesis had a profound influence and senile dementia was successively recognised as Alzheimer's disease. Recently, however, a number of studies have been published that challenged the amyloid cascade hypothesis. An article published in 1997 showed that the amount of AD neuropathology (senile plaques and neurofibrillary tangles) alone could not explain the variation of cognitive functioning in patients who fulfilled the neuropathological criteria for AD [13]. Findings like these have increased the interest in mechanisms that affect cognitive functioning; and the idea that cerebrovascular function is important for cognitive health has been revitalized. Another field of research that has attracted interest lately is the effect of aging on cognitive health and the question where the line between dementia and healthy aging should be drawn. In order to address these issues two clinical rating scales were introduced in 1982; the clinical dementia rating (CDR) and the global deterioration scale [14,15]. Both the CDR and GDS assess intermediary stages between normal cognitive function and dementia. The term MCI was first used in 1988, describing a group of patients classified as GDS 3 [16]. The concept of MCI has since been refined and different classifications have been proposed.

Mild cognitive impairment

Mild cognitive impairment is a state with mildly impaired cognitive functions but intact ability to perform basic daily activities. The MCI population consists of mainly three categories: patients subsequently recovering from the cognitive impairment, patients with stable cognitive impairment during follow-ups, and patients eventually converting to dementia. An early MCI classification, describing MCI as a transitional state between normal aging and AD was introduced in 1999 and received much interest in the field [17]. Subsequent research on MCI populations have identified MCI as an early stage of several dementia disorders [18]. As research in the field increased, the original MCI classification was widened to better correspond to the new results. In 2004, the international working group on mild cognitive impairment presented a consensus report proposing the following criteria for MCI: (i) the patient is neither normal nor demented; (ii) there is evidence of cognitive deterioration shown by either objectively measured decline over time or subjective report of decline by self and/or informant in conjunction with objective cognitive deficits; and (iii) activities of daily living are preserved and complex instrumental functions are either intact or minimally impaired [19]. The incidence rate is estimated to 12 - 15 per 1000 person years in people aged over 65 [20], which is roughly ten times the global incidence rate of dementia [2]. Clinical MCI studies generally show higher rates of conversion to dementia than population based studies. The annual conversion rate is 5 - 10 % and less than half of the MCI patients convert to dementia, even with a long follow-up time [21]. The etiology is multi-factorial, including primary degenerative, vascular, psychiatric, metabolic, toxic, traumatic, and pharmacologically induced deterioration [19]. Neuropathological studies in MCI have shown presence of AD and cerebrovascular pathologies suggesting that MCI may be an early stage of both AD and vascular dementia [22].

Aging

As the organism ages it undergoes irreversible changes. These changes are progressive and lead to reduced functionality. The process is not fully understood but there is increasing evidence for a number of key elements. Currently, the oxidative stress theory is the most influential. It states that as a metabolically active cell ages, the continual production of free radicals leads to an accumulation of oxidatively damaged biomolecules, such as DNA,

proteins and lipids [23]. The combined effect of these changes is thought to represent functional aging.

Structural changes can be seen in the aging brain. Typically, there is a reduction in cortical grey matter volume and an increase of lateral ventricle volume [24-26]. White matter volume is more resistant to aging, as is cerebellar volume [24-26]. Studies using diffusion tensor imaging techniques suggest, however, that white matter changes in aging may appear earlier than was previously believed [27]. The effect of aging on the hippocampus and related structures such as the entorhinal cortex is not clear. Several studies have found hippocampal and entorhinal cortical volume loss in aging [24,26,28], but others have found no or only a small aging effect [29-31]. In conclusion, it seems that the hippocampi and the entorhinal cortices are more resistant to aging compared to other grey matter regions.

Most cognitive functions are affected by aging. Mental speed and processing intensive tasks such as attention and working memory are affected first in the aging process as opposed to language functions which are more resistant to aging [32]. Since the aging process is highly individual, the chronological age does not reflect how many more years the subject will live. In acknowledgement of this researchers have found the need to measure age not from birth but from death. The findings that elderly individuals will undergo a faster deterioration in the time prior to death lead to the development of the concept of terminal decline [33]. It has been shown that an accelerated global cognitive loss precedes death by several years [33,34]. Questions regarding when the terminal decline begins and how the effect is related to the direct cause of death remain to be answered.

Dementia disorders

There are numerous causes of dementia. The material used in this thesis consists of patients seeking care at a memory clinic. Typically, patients with cognitive deficits caused by large cerebral infarcts, malignant tumors, major depression or one of many severe somatic disorders that can cause dementia, will not be referred to the memory clinic as the cause of the cognitive impairment is obvious. The dementia disorders most commonly found in the material are Alzheimer's disease, subcortical vascular dementia, frontotemporal dementia, and Lewy-body dementia. As the cases of frontotemporal dementia and Lewy-body dementia were too few for a specific analysis, they will not be described further.

Alzheimer 's dementia

Alzheimer's dementia (AD) is regarded as the most common form of dementia [2]. Clinically, AD is characterized by progressive impairment of memory, visuospatial abilities and language. As the disease progresses it results in global cognitive impairment. The most commonly used diagnostic criteria is the NINCDS-ADRDA [35], according to which the diagnosis is classified as definite, probable or possible AD based on clinical findings with or without histological confirmation. Clinical symptoms include progressive impairment of memory, language, and visuospatial functions, and functional and behavioral disturbances [36]. As the disease progresses it leads to global cognitive impairment [36]. Risk factors for AD include high age, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and smoking [37].

The neuropathological hallmarks of the disease are senile plaques (SP) and neurofibrillary tangles (NFT). The distribution pattern of the neuropathological changes in AD was carefully described by neuropathologists Heiko and Eva Braak. According to the Braak staging, the distribution of SP begins in stage A in the basal portions of the frontal, temporal and occipital lobe, from where it spreads to other parts of the neocortex in stages B and C [38]. The distribution of NFT begins in the entorhinal region of the medial temporal lobe. From there, it spreads first to the hippocampus and the limbic system and later to the neocortex [38].

The most influential theory regarding the pathophysiology of AD is the amyloid cascade hypothesis [12]. It states that the driving mechanism of AD is the accumulation of insoluble β amyloid peptides (A β), by either increased production or by decreased elimination [12]. The β amyloid aggregates and forms plaques which elicit inflammatory activity, damaging the nearby tissue [39]. Aside from activating inflammatory response, dimers and trimers of A β seem to be neurotoxic on their own [40,41]. NFT consist of hyperphosphorylated forms of the cytoskeleton-associated protein tau. The role of NFT in the pathophysiology of AD is not clear but it has been suggested that accumulation of hyperphosphorylated tau is driven by accumulation of A β [42]. Levels of Total-tau (T-tau) and phosphorylated Tau in CSF have also been shown to correlate with cognitive function [43].

There are alternative theories regarding the pathophysiology of AD. These theories consider early-onset AD as a genetic disease and a primary $A\beta$ amyloidosis, while maintaining that amyloidosis in late-onset AD is a consequence rather than a cause of the disease.

The vascular hypothesis states that cerebrovascular pathology is the cause of AD. Briefly, the main argument for this theory is the finding that reduced cerebral bloodflow precedes neurodegeneration in AD [44]. According to the theory, the reduced blood flow affects the hippocampus and the posterior parietal cortex first as they are the regions most sensitive to hypoxia [45]. The following metabolic energy crisis leads to oxidative stress and increased inflammatory activity resulting in neuronal damage and cognitive decline. Further argument comes from the facts that not all patients with even widespread deposits of SP and NFT display AD symptoms [13], and that the known risk factors for AD are shared with VaD [37,46].

The retrogenesis model of AD hypothesizes that white matter myelin degeneration is the driving cause in AD, and that this degeneration is reverse to that of myelogenesis [47]. Thus, the late developing language and executive functions should be affected early in the disease process, while the early developing sensorimotor functions should be affected late in the disease process. Clinical studies have shown that this is indeed the case in AD [47]. A number of neuroimaging studies have examined the assertions of the hypothesis. As predicted by the model, the late developed neocortical association and allocortical fibers are the first to be affected in AD [48]. These findings have since been confirmed in studies using diffusion tensor imaging [49,50].

Vascular dementia

Vascular dementia (VaD) is regarded as the second most common cause of dementia [2]. It is caused by ischemic, hypoperfusive or haemorrhagic damage to the brain. VaD is classified as large-vessel disease, small-vessel disease, ischemic-hypoperfusive vascular dementia, or haemorrhagic vascular dementia [51]. Subcortical ischemic vascular dementia (SIVD), a subgroup of the small-vessel diseases, is a major cause of dementia in the elderly and probably the most common subtype of VaD [52,53]. The clinical symptoms of SIVD are cognitive and motor slowing, impairment of executive functions, personality change, and short-stepped gait [51,54]. Risk factors for SIVD include (in common with AD, see above)

high age, hypertension, and diabetes mellitus [54,55]. Pathologically, SIVD is characterized by occlusion or stenosis of the lacunar arteries, leading to ischemia and hypoperfusion of the deep cortical white matter [51]. A number of pathological features have been identified in the development of SIVD. The most prominent seem to be arteriolosclerosis and lipohyalinosis [55]. Arteriolosclerosis is characterized by concentric stenosis of the vessel lumen of arterioles [55]. Lipohyalinosis is characterized by initial damage to the vessel wall leading to leakage of plasma proteins into the vessel wall and the perivascular space [55]. On CT and MRI examinations, these changes appear as white matter lesions in the deep white matter.

Mixed dementia

The term mixed dementia describes a state where both AD and cerebrovascular pathologies are present. Since the finding of the genetic mutations causing familial AD and the development of the amyloid cascade hypothesis, much of the focus in the field has been on amyloid pathology and its role in cognitive impairment. A paper published in 1997 did, however, reawaken the interest in the role of vascular pathology. The finding from that study was that the progression of cognitive impairment is more rapid when both pathologies are present [13]. Subsequent studies have found that AD patients with cerebrovascular pathology but without vascular pathology [56,57]. It has been suggested that mixed pathology accounts for the majority of cases of dementia in the elderly [58,59]. There are large discrepancies, however, between these neuropathological findings and reported prevalence levels of dementia from epidemiological and clinical studies, reporting that AD accounts for 50 % - 70 % of all cases of dementia [2,4]. Further research is needed to elucidate the interaction between AD and cerebrovascular pathology.

The hippocampus

The hippocampus is a 3-4 cm³ paired structure located in the medial temporal lobe. The name "hippocampus" is Greek and comes from the resemblance of the structure to a sea-horse. It was first used by anatomist Arantius in his 1587 work "De Humano Foetu" [60]. Ramon y

Cajal, using new histological staining methods, gave the hippocampal formation the first comprehensive description in 1910 [60].

Figure 1. Two hippocampi.



Preparation by Prof Laszlo Seress. Published under CC-BY-SA.

The hippocampus receives the majority of its incoming projections via the entorhinal cortex from frontal, temporal, and parietal association areas, and projects to the same regions [61-63]. Bilateral hippocampal lesions lead to extensive memory impairment with three distinct characteristics [62]. First, the impairment is multimodal, meaning that the memory impairment encompasses information received by all sensory modalities. Second, delayed memory is impaired but immediate memory is intact. The consequence of this is that very simple information may be rehearsed and remembered for a short period of time but more complex information is quickly lost. Third, the impairment is limited to memory; perceptual functions are intact and the patient may have a normal score on intelligence tests and tests for semantic memory.

The hippocampus is regarded as a neurogenic region of the brain, with the presence of both precursor cells and a microenvironment suitable for production of new neurons [64]. There is increasing evidence, mainly from animal studies, that adult neurogenesis plays an important role in learning and memory [65]. The most important regulator of hippocampal neurogenesis is hippocampal dependent learning [66]. Learning increases the survival of differentiated cells which were born recently before training, but induces apoptosis in cells born at the start of training [67]. Animal studies have shown that living in an enriched environment have similar effects on hippocampal neurogenesis as learning [68]. Physical training has also been shown to increase hippocampal neurogenesis, but it is by increased proliferation of progenitor cells rather than by increased survival in differentiated cells [69]. The structure of cortical gray matter is highly determined by genes. In studies comparing monozygotic twins to unrelated subjects it was found that the structure of frontal, sensorimotor, and language cortices were genetically determined by 70 % to 90% [70]. The hippocampus, however, seems to be an exception. The structure of the hippocampus is determined equally by genes and environment, meaning that environmental factors shape the hippocampus much more than the rest of the brain [71].

The hippocampi are well vascularized. The majority of the blood supply comes from the posterior cerebral artery, but blood is also supplied from the anterior choroidal artery [72]. These vessels have anastomotic sites in the hippocampus. Studies have shown that the hippocampus is one of the regions in the brain most sensitive to hypoxia [73,74].

Asymmetry

It is well known that, as opposed to what is the case in lower primates, the human cerebral hemispheres are not functionally equivalent. Briefly, the left hemisphere is considered dominant, handling verbal information while the right hemisphere handles non-verbal information. Damage to the left hippocampus impairs verbal learning, regardless if the information is read or heard, while damage to the right hippocampus leaves verbal learning intact but impairs the ability to recognize visual and auditory patterns [75]. Recent studies have, however, questioned the clear left - right, verbal – non-verbal dichotomization [76,77]. Furthermore, temporal lobe surgery studies have reported that unilateral hippocampal lesions

can be tolerated surprisingly well [78], supporting the view that many important functions of the hippocampus are bilaterally represented.

Structurally, the right hippocampus seems to be larger than the left hippocampus in the cognitively healthy [79], and this pattern remains in MCI and AD [80]. The asymmetry does not seem to be affected by handedness [81], although left-handed women may have overall larger hippocampal volume [82]. The cause of asymmetry may be hormonal [83], but the functional consequences of the size differences remain unknown.

White matter lesions

White matter lesions are often seen in the elderly undergoing CT or MRI investigation. The lesions appear on MRI images as patchy or confluent hyperintensities most commonly seen in the deep white matter surrounding the lateral ventricles. Based on their localization they are often classified as periventricular or subcortical white matter lesions. A number of terms are used synonymously in the scientific literature to describe white matter lesions, including age-related white matter changes, white matter changes, white matter hyperintensities, and leukoariosis. The prevalence of subcortical white matter lesions increases with age [55].

WMLs can be focal or diffusive in appearance. The focal WMLs are believed to be fluid filled cavities resulting from small infarcts and the diffuse WMLs are believed to be areas of incomplete infarction [84]. WMLs are the pathological hallmark of SIVD and have been found to be associated with progression of MCI to dementia [85]. It has also been found that progressive WMLs are related to a parallel decline in cognitive function [86]. Furthermore, in a community based study, WML volume was shown to be inversely correlated with hippocampal volume in healthy elderly, independently of vascular risk factors [87]. Smaller clinical studies have found similar results in SIVD and AD [88,89]. Others have found no association between WML volume and hippocampal volume [90]. Although there seems to be some support for a relationship between WMLs and hippocampal atrophy, the underlying mechanism is not understood. There remains a possibility that the relationship is caused by a confounder such as age or vascular risk factors.

Diagnostic tools for the investigation of cognitive decline

Beside the clinical interview and medical history, there are a number of examinations to assist the clinician in finding the cause of cognitive decline.

Cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers

The cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) surrounds the brain and spinal cord. It provides physical protection of the central nervous system (CNS), absorption and removal of selected compounds and regulation of CNS activity by circulating neurotransmitters and hormones. It is separated from the blood by the blood-brain barrier which restricts the flow of proteins to the brain [91]. The CSF is in direct contact with the extracellular space of the CNS and thus reflects the chemistry of the brain, allowing analyses of the CSF to detect pathologic processes in the brain [91]. CSF samples are collected by lumbar puncture. A number of cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers are well established for the prediction of AD. The level of A β 42 is believed to reflect the non-soluble A β -peptides present in senile plaques [91-94]. Neurofibrillary tangles, consisting of phosphorylated forms of the microtubule-associated protein tau, are displayed by the biomarkers total-tau and phosphorylated tau [91-94]. These biomarkers show abnormal values before the onset of dementia but appear to remain stable as the disease progresses [95,96]. They are therefore of limited value as markers of progression. The CSF biomarker profile for the prediction of VaD is not as well studied as that for AD. There is, however, some evidence that levels of the myelinated axon related protein Neurofilament light may be increased early in VaD [97-100].

Psychometric markers

A neuropsychological test battery is designed to assess performance across the cognitive domains: speed and attention, learning and episodic memory, visuospatial functions, language functions, and executive functions. Studies examining the neuropsychological performance of MCI patients compared to healthy elderly have revealed that MCI patients are impaired across several cognitive domains [101,102]. These findings suggest that MCI is a heterogeneous condition. Several studies have attempted to identify different cognitive profiles as markers of the underlying disorders. Thus, incipient AD is characterized by broad cognitive impairment,

most pronounced in attention, verbal learning and memory functions [103-105]. Incipient SIVD is not as well studied but the disorder seems to involve an early decline in executive functions, attention functions, and mental speed [106,107]. There are, however, considerable overlap in the cognitive profiles of incipient AD and SIVD [104,108]. As AD and SIVD progress they result in global cognitive impairment.

Neuroimaging markers

Neuroimaging in cognitive disorders include structural and functional imaging. Functional imaging visualizes functional and metabolic aspects of the brain using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), positron emission tomography (PET), and single photon emission computer tomography (SPECT). Structural imaging gives morphometric information using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and computer tomography (CT). Since structural MRI is the topic of this thesis, the other modalities will not be presented further.

As the hippocampus is necessary for formation of new memories and neuropathological studies have shown that the hippocampal region is an early site for AD pathology, the question was raised more than two decades ago if measurement of the hippocampus in vivo could provide information on the presence of pathology. The first study showing hippocampal atrophy in AD using magnetic resonance imaging was published in 1989 [109]. Several studies have since linked hippocampal atrophy to AD and incipient AD [18,110-115]. Surrounding structures such as the entorhinal cortex and amygdala also seem to be affected [116-118]. These alternative markers have, however, not been proved superior to the hippocampus which remains the most used structural marker of AD and incipient AD. Studies have shown that grey matter volume decreases with increasing age in the normal population [26,28,29], but hippocampal volume seem to decrease less than cortical grey matter [26,29]. The variance of hippocampal volume seems to be the same in young and old healthy adults [28], implying that there is a group of healthy people with small hippocampal volumes. This raised the question if small hippocampal volume should be regarded not as a disease marker but rather as a risk factor for dementia. Twin-studies allow for studying the relationship between genetic and neuropathological influence on brain structure. One such study reported significantly smaller hippocampus in the twin with AD compared to both the non-demented twin and to healthy controls [119]. Other studies have found increased rate of hippocampal

atrophy in patients with incipient AD compared to controls, strengthening the belief that hippocampal atrophy is a disease marker in AD [120,121].

Less is known about hippocampal structure in vascular cognitive impairment and SIVD. There is, however, some evidence that cognitive impairment in SIVD is associated with hippocampal atrophy [122,123].

Objectives

The objective of the thesis is to examine hippocampal volume and other putative markers of cognitive decline in a clinical setting at a memory clinic. The specific objectives are to:

- 1. Examine hippocampal volume in two groups of MCI patients with and without cognitive deterioration and in a matching control group (Paper I)
- 2. Examine longitudinal changes in hippocampal volume in these groups and determine if it is related to cognitive decline (Paper I)
- 3. Examine whether hippocampal volume can distinguish between MCI patients converting to AD or SIVD (Papers I and III)
- 4. Examine how hippocampal volume performs as a marker of cognitive decline, alone and in combination with CSF biomarkers (Paper II)
- 5. Examine the presence of white matter lesions in MCI and their relation to hippocampal volume (Paper III)
- 6. Examine the relationship between hippocampal volume and performance on a comprehensive neuropsychological test battery (Unpublished data)

Material

Göteborg MCI study

The Göteborg MCI study started in 1999 and is ongoing. It is based at the memory clinic in Mölndal which is part of the Sahlgrenska University Hospital. The aims of the study are to identify neurodegenerative, vascular and stress-related disorders prior to the development of overt dementia [101]. The study has a longitudinal design with biannual assessments. The baseline investigation includes neurologic, psychiatric, and cognitive screening, neuropsychological testing, MRI examination, SPECT examination, EEG examination, and sampling of blood and CSF. The Göteborg MCI study is approved by the local ethics committee (diary number: L091-99, date: 15-March-1999).

MCI classification procedure

Study participants were classified using the global deterioration scale (GDS) [15]. The classifications were based on medical history and the following checklists and instruments for cognitive function: Stepwise Comparative Status Analysis (STEP) [124], IFlex, which is a short form of the Executive Interview (EXIT) [125], Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) [126], and Clinical Dementia Rating (CDR) [127]. The CDR assessment was based on information from both the participant and an informant. For inclusion, subjective and objective (by an informant) verifications of a progressive cognitive impairment for more than 6 months was required. In addition, a positive outcome on STEP, I-Flex, MMSE, or CDR was required. Based on the results, patients were at each examination classified according to the Global Deterioration Scale (GDS) where 2 equals subjective cognitive impairment, 3 equals MCI, and 4 equals mild dementia [15].

Dementia diagnostic criteria

Dementia diagnoses for MCI patients converting to dementia were founded on somatic examination, anamnesis, neuropsychiatric evaluation, and MRI. AD was diagnosed according to the NINCDS-ADRDA criteria [35], SIVD according to the Erkinjuntti criteria [128], frontotemporal dementia according to the Lund and Manchester criteria [129], Lewy body dementia according to the consensus guidelines by McKeith et al. [130], and dementia non

ultra descriptum (Dementia NUD) according to the International Classification of Diseases, tenth revision (ICD-10) [131].

Healthy controls

Healthy controls were recruited mainly from senior citizens' organisations, while a few were spouses of study patients. They were invited if they were physically and mentally healthy. Controls were not included if they had subjective or objective signs of cognitive disorder as assessed from above procedure.

Study participants

The total patient group used in Papers I and II (N=42) included 21 patients with MCI (GDS 3) at baseline who had converted to mild dementia (GDS 4) by the time of the two year follow-up (converting MCI; MCI-c), and 21 patients with MCI both at baseline and follow-up (stable MCI; MCI-s). Thirteen of the converting MCI patients converted to AD, 4 to SIVD, 2 to mixed Alzheimer/vascular dementia and 2 to frontotemporal dementia. The AD converters were grouped into the MCI to AD group and the other converters were grouped into the MCI to non-AD group. Twenty-six healthy controls were also included. All converting MCI patients with two clinical assessments and a baseline MRI investigation with the 0.5 T scanner were included. Stable MCI patients were classified as GDS 3 at baseline and follow-up, and were included consecutively to achieve matching group sizes.

In the total patient group used in Paper III (N=122), all MCI patients with at least two clinical examinations and at least one MRI investigation with the 1.5 T scanner were included. The earliest MRI examination was used if a patient underwent more than one examination. The patient group included 30 patients who were classified as GDS 2 or 3 at baseline and had deteriorated to GDS 4 at subsequent examinations (converting MCI; MCI-Con), and 92 patients who were classified as GDS 2 or 3 at subsequent examinations (stable MCI; MCI-MCI). Forty-four healthy controls were also included. Sixteen of the converting MCI patients converted to AD, 6 converted to SIVD, 5 to mixed dementia, 1 to Lewy body dementia, and 2 to dementia NUD. The AD converters were grouped into the MCI-AD group, the SIVD and mixed dementia converters were grouped into the MCI-Vasc group.

Paper	Group	Ν	Men/Women	Age	Education	MMSE
I & II	Converting MCI	21	6/15	69.3 ± 6.3	10.4 ± 3.4	27.2 ± 2.0
	Stable MCI	21	12/9	66.6 ± 7.0	12.5 ± 3.5	28.3 ± 1.8
	Controls	26	8/18	67.7 ± 5.3	11.7 ± 3.4	29.4 ± 0.9
III	Converting MCI	30	16/14	66.9 ± 8.5	11.5 ± 3.6	25.4 ± 4.5
	Stable MCI	92	38/54	64.3 ± 7.4	12.4 ± 3.6	29.0 ± 1.1
	Controls	44	15/29	66.2 ± 7.2	11.8 ± 3.6	29.4 ± 0.4

Table 1. Characteristics of study participants

Method

Two different MR scanners have been used since the start of the Göteborg MCI study. A 0.5 T magnet (Philips NT5) was used until 2004 and a 1.5 T magnet (Siemens Symphony) was used thereafter. Data from the 0.5 T scanner were used for Papers I and II. Data from the 1.5 T scanner were used for Paper III.

Imaging in Papers I and II

Manual hippocampal volumetry was performed by means of a custom method on an interactive Cintiq LCD tablet screen. The method has been validated on two other datasets (unpublished data). The segmentation was done on T1 weighted coronal slices which were scanned perpendicularly to the hippocampal principal axis. Hippocampal volumes were normalized using intracranial volume.

The segmentation process consisted of two steps: 1. Landmark setting was done by point-wise cross setting in the sagittal view of the reformatted coronal image where the demarcation in the original coronal image is indiscernible or difficult to interpret. 2. Segmentation of the

hippocampus on coronal images was done by continuous pen drawing and point-wise sampling. By means of the landmark setting, and intensity and noise preprocessing, the whole hippocampus including the tail [79] could be segmented without ad hoc determination of the most anterior and the most posterior slice [132]. Interpretation of the image in relation to the sectional anatomy of the hippocampus [133] and segmentation guidelines [134,135] is necessary as there often are parts of the image where no distinct border can be found between adjacent anatomical regions of similar tissue types.

A 3D visualization was done after the preliminary segmentation to check for apparent deviations from the expected anatomical figure.

Intrarater reliability for the two hippocampal segmentations performed by Carl Eckerström with a 3 month interval: single measure ICC=0.712. Interrater reliability for CE's first measurement and Erik Olsson's measurement: single measure ICC=0.663.

Paper II also included CSF samples collected by lumbar puncture (LP). Both baseline and follow-up LPs were performed in the morning to exclude influence on the results from possible diurnal fluctuations in biomarker levels. All CSF analyses from the same patient were performed on one occasion. CSF T-tau and A β 42 levels were determined using a sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) constructed to measure T-tau and A β 42, respectively.

Figure 2. Segmentation process using sagittal reformation



Left: sagittally reformatted view of the right hippocampus of a control subject.

Right: Coronal view of the same subject at the level of the front of the hippocampal head.

- 1: Marking the transition between hippocampal head and amygdala.
- 2: The tip of the hippocampal tail.
- 3: Same cross as 1, now appearing in the coronal view of the right hippocampal head;
- 4: Left hippocampal head.

Figure 3. 3D visualization of the left hippocampus from a participant in the Göteborg MCI study.



Imaging in Paper III

Grey and white matter volumetry in Paper III was performed using FreeSurfer. FreeSurfer is one of the most widely used software packages for automated segmentation of the brain. The segmentation process can briefly be described in 3 steps; step 1 is intensity normalization, step 2 is computer assisted stripping of the skull, step 3 involves assigning each voxel a tissue class using a probabilistic atlas [136,137].

Figure 4. FreeSurfer images from the Göteborg MCI study



Left image shows original image, middle image after skull stripping, right image shows complete segmentation

Manual volumetry of white matter lesions was performed using MRicron. The segmentation process consists of three steps; step 1 is manual outlining of supratentorial white matter lesions, step 2 involves applying an intensity threshold to correspond with the intensity of the white matter lesions in the image, and step 3 is automatic measurement of the area of overlap of the outlined lesions and the applied intensity threshold.

Figure 5. MRicron images from the Göteborg MCI study.



Left image shows original image, middle image shows manually outline white matter lesions (pink) and intensity threshold (blue), right image shows complete segmentation

Statistical analyses

Hippocampal volume tends to follow a normal distribution both in healthy controls and cognitively impaired which allowed the use of parametric tests when hippocampal volumes were analyzed. White matter lesions are not normally distributed and were consequently analyzed with non-parametric tests.

In all Papers, demographic data were analyzed using Chi-square for sex and ApoEɛ, and ANOVA for comparisons of age, education and MMSE scores.

In Paper I, unpaired t-tests (two-tailed) were used for comparing hippocampal volume between the groups. Intraindividual comparisons were done with the paired t-test. In evaluating the reliability of the hippocampal measurements, raw correlations and intraclass correlations were used.

In Paper II, unpaired t-tests (two-tailed) were used for group comparisons regarding hippocampal volumes and CSF biomarkers. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analyses were performed to assess the diagnostic value of the variables separately and in combination using the orthogonal projection to latent structures discriminant analysis (OPLS-DA) algorithm. Cutoff values were determined by finding the maximum for the sum of sensitivity and specificity.

In Paper III, Mann-Whitney's U test was used for group comparisons with regard to white matter lesion volumes. Unpaired t-tests were used for group comparisons in the evaluation of hippocampal volumes and total white matter volumes. Correlation analyses were performed with Spearman's ρ for correlations with WMLs, while Pearson's r were used for correlations with hippocampal volumes and total white matter volumes.

Pearson's r were also used for comparisons between hippocampal volumes and psychometric test performance in the unpublished data.

Results

Hippocampal volume in converting and stable MCI patients

The main finding in Paper I was that the converting MCI patients had significantly smaller total hippocampal volume than both the stable MCI group and the controls. There was no significant difference between the stable MCI group and the controls. When looking at left and right hippocampus respectively, only the left hippocampus was significantly smaller in the converting MCI group than in both the stable MCI group and the control group. It was therefore concluded that the left hippocampus was the best marker for conversion.

Table 2. Total, right and left normalized hippocampal volumes at baseline (Paper I).

	Converting MCI	Stable MCI	Controls
Ν	21	21	26
Total	4.0 ± 1.1 **, ^{##}	4.5 ±1.1	4.5 ± 1.2
Right	2.1 ± 0.6 [#]	2.3 ± 0.6	2.4 ± 0.6
Left	1.9 ± 0.5 **, ^{##}	2.2 ± 0.5	2.2 ± 0.6
Difference (R,L)	0.2 ± 0.3	0.2 ± 0.3	0.2 ± 0.3

Volumes are given as cm^3 , mean $\pm 2SD$.

* and ** indicate significant results compared to MCI-s.*: p < 0.05, **: p < 0.01

[#] and ^{##} indicate significant results compared to Controls. [#]: p < 0.05, ^{##}: p < 0.01

Longitudinal change in hippocampal volume and cognitive function

Although not significant, mean hippocampal volume decreased in the converting MCI group and in the control group between baseline and the two year follow up. The stable MCI group had an increase in volume over the same time period. The unexpected large volume loss in the control group required further investigation. From examination of the medical records of the control subjects, it was found that two of the three subjects with the largest reductions in hippocampal volume had recently received cancer diagnoses. Apart from this, psychiatric or somatic disorders of possible relevance was found in additionally four control subjects. When these six subjects were excluded from the analysis, the remaining controls showed a much smaller hippocampal volume loss of 0.09 cm³ over two years.

For the converting MCI group, the hippocampal volume loss amounted to 5.8 % of baseline volume or a yearly loss of 2.9 %. The yearly loss for the purged control group was 1.0 % while the stable MCI group had a yearly volume increase of 1.8 %.

	Converting MCI	Stable MCI	Controls	Purged controls
Ν	14	15	19	13
Volume change (cm ³)	- 0.23	0.16	- 0.32	- 0.09
<i>p</i> -value	0.2	0.07	0.008	0.3

Table 3. Volume change over two years (Paper I).

Hippocampal volume in MCI patients converting to AD or SIVD

In Paper I, there was an overall trend for smaller hippocampal volumes in the patients converting from MCI to AD than in the MCI to non-AD group, both with regards to left, right and total hippocampal volumes. The subgroups were, however, small and none of the differences reaches significance. The MCI to AD demonstrated significantly smaller total, right, and left hippocampal volumes than the non-converters and controls. In the MCI to non-AD group, only the left hippocampal volume was significantly smaller compared to the stable MCI group.

	MCI to AD	MCI to non-AD	Stable MCI	Controls
Ν	13	8	21	26
Total	3.9 **,##	4.2	4.5	4.5
Right	2.1 *, ##	2.3	2.3	2.4
Left	1.9 **, ##	2.0 *	2.2	2.2

Table 4. Total, right and left normalized hippocampal volumes at baseline (Paper I).

Volumes are given as cm³, mean value.

* and ** indicate significant results compared to stable MCI.*: p < 0.05, **: p < 0.01

[#] and ^{##} indicate significant results compared to Controls. [#]: p < 0.05, ^{##}: p < 0.01

As not all scans analysed in Paper III were performed prior to conversion, the more pronounced differences between the converting and stable patients seen in Paper III may, therefore, be due to some patients in the converting MCI group having progressed further in the disease process. The findings were, however, similar to those of Paper I. Note the overall higher volumes in Paper III compared to those in Paper I and II, reflecting the different methods used.

	MCI-AD	MCI-Vasc	MCI-MCI	Controls
Ν	16	11	92	44
Right HC	3.2 ± 0.7 * #	3.2 ± 0.6 * #	4.0 ± 0.4	3.9 ± 0.5
Left HC	3.2 ± 0.6 * #	3.1 ± 0.6 * #	3.9 ± 0.4	3.8 ± 0.4

Table 5. Total, right and left normalized hippocampal volumes (Paper III).

Volumes are given as cm^3 , mean $\pm 2SD$.

* and ** indicate significant results compared to stable MCI. *: p < 0.05, **: p < 0.01

[#] and ^{##} indicate significant results compared to Controls. [#]: p < 0.05, ^{##}: p < 0.01

Combination of hippocampal volume and CSF biomarkers in MCI

Paper II examined the prognostic accuracy of left hippocampal volume in combination with CSF biomarkers T-tau and A β 42. Group comparisons showed highly significant differences for all three markers between the converting MCI group and both the stable MCI group and the controls. None of the markers showed a significant difference between the stable MCI group and the control group. When examining predictive values, the combination of all three markers was found to be the best predictor of conversion to dementia, with a sensitivity of 90 % and a specificity of 91 %.





Prognostic accuracy for different variables.

Table 6. Summary of ROC analysis (Paper II).

	Sensitivity %	Specificity %	AUC
Left HC	86	66	0.79
T-tau	67	96	0.81
Αβ42	95	74	0.86
OPLS-DA (Aβ42, T-tau)	95	79	0.91
OPLS-DA (Aβ42, Left HC)	86	91	0.92
OPLS-DA (T-tau, L HC)	71	87	0.82
OPLS-DA (Aβ42, T-tau, Left HC)	90	91	0.94

OPLS-DA: orthogonal projections to latent structures discriminant analysis. AUC: area under the curve.

White matter lesions in MCI and their relation to hippocampal volume

The stable MCI group (MCI-MCI) had lower WML volume compared to both the converting MCI group (MCI-Con) and the control group. The MCI patients converting to SIVD or mixed dementia (MCI-Vasc) stand out with high WML volumes, which was expected as MRI verified WMLs are included in the diagnostic criteria for SIVD. As noted above, the MCI-Con group had smaller hippocampal volume compared to both the MCI-MCI group and the control group, while there was no difference between the MCI-MCI group and the control group. Furthermore, there was no difference in hippocampal volumes between MCI-AD and MCI-Vasc and both groups had smaller hippocampal volume compared to the MCI-MCI group and the CI-MCI group and the control group. There was no significant difference in total white matter (Total WM) volume between the groups.

	MCI-Con (N=30)	MCI-AD (N=16)	MCI-Vasc (N=11)	MCI-MCI (N=92)	Controls (N=44)
WMLs	21.1 ± 26.0 ^a	14.6 ± 21.8	34.5 ± 30.2 ^{b x}	8.0 ± 7.3 ^y	11.6 ± 8.9
Right HC	3.3 ± 0.7 ^{b x}	$3.2 \pm 0.7^{a x}$	$3.2 \pm 0.6^{a x}$	4.0 ± 0.4	3.9 ± 0.5
Left HC	3.2 ± 0.6 ^{b x}	$3.2 \pm 0.6^{a x}$	$3.1 \pm 0.6^{a x}$	3.9 ± 0.4	3.8 ± 0.4
Tot WM	433 ± 48	428 ± 51	428 ± 46	443 ± 52	435 ± 54

Table 7. White matter lesion volume, hippocampal volume and total white matter volume. (Paper III)

Volumes (cm³) are presented as Mean \pm SD

No statistical analysis between the MCI-Con group and its subgroups (MCI-AD, MCI-Vasc) were performed.

^a and ^b indicate significant results compared to MCI-MCI. ^a: p < 0.05, ^b: p < 0.001

^x and ^y indicate significant results compared to Controls. ^x: p < 0.05, ^y: p < 0.001

Table 8 shows that age is negatively correlated to Left hippocampal (Left HC) volume and total WM volume, but positively correlated to WML volume. Total WM volume is positively correlated to left and right hippocampal (Right HC) volume but not to WML volume. Left and Right HC volumes are highly correlated. The negative correlations between WMLs and Right/Left HC volume are not significant.

	Left HC	Right HC	Total WM	Age	Education
WMLs	-0.14	-0.16	0.04	0.39 **	-0.12
TotWM	0.50 **	0.47 **	1	-0.27 **	0.07
Left HC	1	0.88 **	0.50 **	-0.44 **	0.13
Right HC	0.88 **	1	0.48 **	-0.48 **	0.18

Table 8. Correlations for the whole cohort. (Paper III)

**Indicate significant results. **: p < 0.01

In order to examine the effect of high WML load, the subjects were divided into quartiles. Correlations for the quartile with the highest WML volume (> 11 cm³, N = 42) are displayed in Table 9. It shows that WML volume is negatively correlated to both Left and Right HC volume but not correlated to age, education or total WM volume. WML volume was not correlated to Left or Right hippocampal volume in any of the other quartiles.

Table 9. Correlations for the top WML quartile. (Paper III)

	Left HC	Right HC	Total WM	Age	Education
WMLs	-0.58**	-0.44 *	-0.33	0.28	-0.16
TotWM	0.57 **	0.51 **	1	-0.32	0.14
Left HC	1	0.85 **	0.57 **	-0.23	0.1
Right HC	0.85 **	1	0.51 **	-0.18	-0.09

* Indicate significant results. *: p < 0.05

** Indicate significant results. **: p < 0.01

Relationship between hippocampal volume and psychometric performance

A correlation analysis was performed to evaluate the association between neuropsychological test performance and hippocampal volume in MCI. The hippocampal volumes from the MCI patients from Papers I and II were used for the analysis. The cognitive domains most strongly associated with hippocampal volume were learning and memory, and visuospatial function. Across the battery, left hippocampal volume was more closely related to test performance than right hippocampal volume. This was true for both verbal and non-verbal learning and memory tests.

Table 10. Correlation coefficients for hippocampal volume (HC) and test scores (Unpublished data).

		MCI (N=42)	
Cognitive domain	Test	Right HC	Left HC
Speed and attention	Trail Making Test A	-0.02	-0.10
	Trail Making Test B	-0.15	-0.14
	WAIS-R Digit Span	-0.08	-0.07
	WAIS Digit Symbol Coding	-0.09	0.05
Learning and memory	RAVLT Immediate recall	0.21	0.33*
	RAVLT Delayed recall	0.29	0.42**
	RAVLT Recognition	0.35*	0.42*
	Rey Complex Figure recall	0.37*	0.47**
	Rey Complex Figure delayed recall	0.42**	0.49**
	Face Recognition	0.30	0.40**
Visuospatial	Rey Complex Figure copy	0.17	0.18
	WAIS-R Block Design	0.14	0.29
	VOSP Silhouettes	0.30	0.48**
Language	Controlled Oral Word Association	0.21	0.25
	WAIS-R Similarities	-0.04	0.09
	Boston Naming test	0.10	0.32
	Token test	-0.01	-0.04
Executive funtions	PASMO	0.10	0.10

* Indicate *p* < 0.05.

** Indicate *p* < 0.01

Discussion

To be able to track the first changes in dementia, perhaps many years before the first symptoms are present, would be of great importance. An early diagnosis would enable the possibility of early symptom alleviating therapy and ensure that when any disease modifying treatment is made available, this will be administered at an early stage of the disease.

Hippocampal volume as a broad cognitive marker in MCI

The findings in Paper I that MCI patients subsequently converting to dementia have smaller hippocampi than stable MCI patients support the notion that hippocampal volume can be used as a marker for cognitive deterioration in an MCI group with varying underlying diseases. The view that hippocampal atrophy is a strict AD marker is likely not entirely correct. In the present material, the MCI patients converting to AD have pronounced hippocampal atrophy but patients converting to SIVD and mixed dementia also have a significant hippocampal volume loss compared to stable MCI patients and controls. It would seem that the pathophysiological process in AD affects the hippocampus at an early stage. This assumption is supported by both pathological and neuropsychological data [38,103-105]. In SIVD and mixed dementia the hippocampus seems to be involved in the pathophysiological process, as well, but more indirectly. While hippocampal atrophy in AD has been shown in numerous studies, hippocampal atrophy in SIVD is not as well established in the literature. Much of the research performed in the field of MCI and dementia is focused on predicting specific diseases e. g. AD or less commonly, vascular dementia. Although this is valuable research, the focus is inevitably moved from MCI to the studied disease. By selecting MCI patients with prodromal AD or other isolated diseases, the information conferred applies only to a subgroup of the MCI population. Instead of a disease-oriented view, the aim of the present research has been to focus on the MCI group as a whole to attempt to determine which patients will subsequently convert to dementia and which patients will remain stable or even improve. It should be noted that the approach in the Göteborg MCI study relies on clinical diagnostics and not on neuropathologically verified diagnosis. The participants in Papers I and II seem representative of the general dementia population, however. Among the converting

patients, 62% converted to AD with VaD as the second most common diagnosis. These proportions of dementia disorders are in fair concordance with what has been reported in larger studies [2]. Taken together, the results from Papers 1-3 support the assumption that hippocampal atrophy may have predictive value not only in incipient AD, but also in incipient SIVD and mixed dementia. This is of interest in the clinical setting as the design of the Göteborg MCI study reflects the flow of patients to a memory clinic.

Longitudinal change in hippocampal volume and cognitive function

There is much interest in finding a reliable marker of progression in dementia disorders. Not only would a progression marker confer information regarding the pathologic process, but it would also provide a way of evaluating interventions such as disease modifying drugs. The cerebrospinal fluid markers T-tau and Aβ42 are valuable in providing diagnostic information, but studies have shown that these markers are not sensitive to disease progression [95,96,138]. Similarly, psychometric markers provide excellent information about cognitive functioning but suffer from a floor-effect and remain static as the patient deteriorates. There are findings that suggest that hippocampal volume may be used as a progression marker in AD [120,121,138]. Although the material in Papers I and II is small, the 2.9 % yearly rate of decline for converting MCI patients is similar to the 3.3 % yearly decline previously reported in MCI patients converting to AD [120]. Surprisingly, the stable MCI patients showed an increase in hippocampal volume of 1.8 %. A possible explanation for this is that some patients with stable MCI sought help for cognitive impairment caused by something else than dementia disorders. These causes may include high levels of circulating cortisol/chronic stress, post-traumatic stress disorder, or depression. While these conditions have all been shown to be associated with reductions in hippocampal volume [18], there are some findings suggesting that clinical improvement is linked to an increase in hippocampal volume [139,140].

Combination of hippocampal volume and CSF biomarkers in MCI

Paper II compares the predictive ability in MCI of hippocampal volume alone and in combination with CSF biomarkers T-tau and A β 42. It was found that while A β 42 was the best single predictor, by combining A β 42 with hippocampal volume the sensitivity was increased from 74 % to 91 %. A β 42 and hippocampal volume seem to reflect different disease processes

or different aspects of the same disease process. The results provide evidence for the increased value gained by combining markers in MCI. Judging from the high prognostic accuracy of the three markers studied, one may speculate that inclusion of further markers would enable the construction of a formula with still better prognostic ability. Paper III (see below) suggests that hippocampal atrophy can be seen in SIVD and that it may be secondary to WMLs. The increased sensitivity provided by hippocampal volume in combination with $A\beta42$ in Paper II may be due to the capture of patients with WMLs but without changes in $A\beta42$ levels.

White matter lesions in MCI and their relation to hippocampal volume

It remains unclear to what extent the presence of WMLs is linked to hippocampal atrophy. The question is fundamental for the division between VaD and AD. According to the traditional view, AD begins by accumulation of SP and NFT in the medial temporal lobe and progresses through the brain with predictable clinical manifestations, beginning with disturbances of memory, visuospatial and language functions. Vascular dementia and SIVD in particular, on the other hand, begins by hypoperfusion of deep white matter by ways of reduced permeatibility of lacunar arteries and arterioles. The symptoms of this process should be frontosubcortical reflecting the damage done to the axons in this region. There are, however, reasons to question such a clear distinction. Studies have shown hippocampal atrophy in SIVD [123,141], and there is increasing evidence for a correlation between hippocampal volume loss and WMLs [87-89]. The underlying process is not known but several mechanisms have been proposed. WMLs and AD share the same risk factors and it has therefore been suggested that WMLs and hippocampal atrophy are not directly related. There is evidence that the correlation remains after adjustment for known risk factor [87], but more studies are needed to settle the issue [142]. It has also been suggested that hippocampal atrophy in SIVD is a result of ischemia leading to apoptosis of hippocampal neurons [141]. Although the hippocampi have high metabolic activity and are sensitive to hypoxia, they are also well vascularized with anastomoses and hippocampal infarcts are rarely seen [143], favoring a view that the hippocampi are more indirectly affected in SIVD. Another proposed hypothesis is that not only WMLs but also hippocampal atrophy is caused by hypoxia or ischemia due to vascular factors. A third proposed mechanism is that WMLs involves damage

to afferent and efferent axons of the hippocampus, slowly disconnecting it and thereby causing atrophy. The finding in Paper III that a correlation between WMLs and hippocampal volume is only seen in subjects with large WMLs may be interpreted as support for a causal link between WMLs and hippocampal atrophy. Clinical and neuropsychological studies have found that subcortical symptoms are the earliest and most pronounced symptoms in SIVD, whereas memory impairment may be present early but is typically more pronounced in later stages of the disorder [54]. Furthermore, a recent study using an animal model for SIVD showed that hippocampal atrophy developed as a consequence of WMLs [144].These observations provide support for the view that the development and progression of WMLs is the driving cause of SIVD and that WMLs are involved in the development of hippocampal atrophy in SIVD.

Hippocampal asymmetry and psychometric performance

One of the findings in Paper I was that the left hippocampus was a better marker of cognitive deterioration than the right hippocampus. Although other researchers have found similar results in MCI, there are also several studies reporting decreased asymmetry (i.e. the larger right hippocampus is more atrophied) in AD [145,146]. In order to investigate whether there is a difference in how left and right hippocampus are associated with psychometric test performance a correlation analysis was performed. In the MCI material from Papers I and II hippocampal volumes were associated with visuospatial function and learning and memory function. The results showed that left hippocampal volume was more strongly correlated with test performance and this applied to both verbal and non-verbal functions. Although there may be reason to question a strong dichotomization in function of the hippocampi [76,77], the results are nonetheless unexpected. One interpretation is that the hippocampal volumes and the psychometric test should be regarded as markers of an underlying disorder, and the patterns discerned should be viewed in that perspective. However, other studies support the notion that the left hippocampus is more strongly associated with a decline in psychometric performance. A recent meta-analysis reported that the left hippocampus may be more affected in MCI prior to the bilateral atrophy seen in AD [80]. In a large longitudinal study investigating hippocampal volume in MCI and AD it was found that volume loss of the right hippocampus seemed to lag volume loss of the left hippocampus [147]. Interestingly, it was

also reported that the ApoEɛ4 allele was associated with an accelerated rate of volume loss in the left but not in the right hippocampus [147]. It may be that the increased asymmetry found in Paper I is due to ApoE status. Further analysis is warranted.

Limitations

A problem with volumetric estimation of the hippocampus is the lack of a standardized measure protocol. A large number of manual and automated techniques are being used to measure hippocampal volume in vivo [132], making it difficult to compare hippocampal volumes between different study centres. As manual methods are both time-consuming and subjective, automated methods are preferable if hippocampal volumetry is introduced in everyday clinical practice. The present automated methods can detect hippocampal atrophy but studies have reported that they systematically over- or underestimates hippocampal volume [148,149]. Manual hippocampal volumetry is still regarded as the golden standard.

The Göteborg MCI study is designed to reflect the flow of patients to a memory clinic. In order to examine early dementia, it is necessary to capture the patient prior to conversion from MCI to dementia within the timeframe of the study. Furthermore, for a proper longitudinal examination, it is desirable that the patient is examined with the same MRI scanner both before and after conversion to dementia. A consequence of scanner upgrades is that it is difficult to achieve large group sizes, especially with regard to groups of patients converting to specific types of dementia. The group sizes in the present study are smaller than what would be preferable and it was not possible to analyze less frequent types of dementia such as Lewy body dementia or frontotemporal dementia.

A difficulty when interpreting the data is that the statistical differences do not necessarily represent real differences. Extra caution is warranted with regard to correlation analyses. The significant correlations reported need not reflect a causal relationship but may instead be associated through a variable not included in the analysis.

Conlusions

One of the conclusions of the present study is that hippocampal volume may be viewed as a broad cognitive marker in MCI. Rather than a marker for a specific disease, reduced hippocampal volume should be viewed as a marker for neurodegeneration and impaired cognitive functioning. It would seem that AD neuropathology affects the hippocampal region early in AD and at a later stage in SIVD. While hippocampal volume loss in AD is probably caused by local neurotoxicity, SIVD may be caused by the disconnection of hippocampal projections by WMLs.

Furthermore, the results of the present study suggest that hippocampal volume may function as a marker of disease progression in MCI. Finding a good marker of progression would be of great value in the evaluation of therapeutic interventions.

Several CSF biomarkers are being used in the evaluation of MCI. By combining hippocampal volume with two of the most widely used CSF biomarkers, A β 42 and T-tau, the predictive ability in MCI is enhanced. Measurement of hippocampal volume may capture MCI patients with progressive cognitive decline in the absence of a typical AD biomarker profile.

Examinations of WMLs in MCI showed that patients converting to SIVD or mixed dementia have larger WMLs than other MCI patients and controls. The finding that WMLs are negatively associated with hippocampal volume in patients with high WML burden suggests that such a burden may be an alternate cause of hippocampal atrophy in MCI and dementia.

In both the 0.5 T and 1.5 T materials, left hippocampal volume was found to be the best marker of cognitive deterioration. When comparing left and right hippocampal volume with psychometric test performance, left hippocampal volume was found to be more closely related to test performance. Left hippocampal atrophy seems to be more strongly associated with a decline in psychometric performance but it remains unclear if the link is causal.

Future directions

Trajectories of hippocampal volume loss

Hippocampal atrophy is seen in AD and SIVD. There is information in the literature suggesting that hippocampal volume loss in AD is a process that continues even at later stages of the disease [138]. Less is known regarding the dynamics of hippocampal volume in the development of SIVD, and also in MCI with different outcomes. It would, therefore, be interesting to study trajectories of hippocampal volume and relate these to cognitive status and biomarkers.

WML subtypes

Not all white matter lesions progress over time and not all white matter lesions seem to be linked to cognitive decline [150]. Possibly, some white matter lesions are more malignant than others. Currently there is insufficient knowledge regarding subtypes of white matter lesions. Furthermore, it would be interesting to examine the localization of white matter lesions in relation to a careful assessment of cognitive functions both cross-sectionally and longitudinally.

References

1 APA: Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, fourth edition (dsm-iv). 1994.

2 Qiu C, De Ronchi D, Fratiglioni L: The epidemiology of the dementias: An update. Current opinion in psychiatry 2007;20:380-385.

3 Ferri CP, Prince M, Brayne C, Brodaty H, Fratiglioni L, Ganguli M, Hall K, Hasegawa K, Hendrie H, Huang Y, Jorm A, Mathers C, Menezes PR, Rimmer E, Scazufca M: Global prevalence of dementia: A delphi consensus study. Lancet 2005;366:2112-2117.

4 SBU: Demenssjukdomar. 2006

5 Berchtold NC, Cotman CW: Evolution in the conceptualization of dementia and alzheimer's disease: Greco-roman period to the 1960s. Neurobiol Aging 1998;19:173-189.

6 Schafer D: 'That senescence itself is an illness': A transitional medical concept of age and aging in the eighteenth century. Med Hist 2002;46:525-548.

7 Goedert M: Oskar fischer and the study of dementia. Brain 2009;132:1102-1111.

8 Fotuhi M, Hachinski V, Whitehouse PJ: Changing perspectives regarding late-life dementia. Nat Rev Neurol 2009;5:649-658.

9 Blessed G, Tomlinson BE, Roth M: The association between quantitative measures of dementia and of senile change in the cerebral grey matter of elderly subjects. Br J Psychiatry 1968;114:797-811.

10 Murrell J, Farlow M, Ghetti B, Benson MD: A mutation in the amyloid precursor protein associated with hereditary alzheimer's disease. Science 1991;254:97-99.

11 Chartier-Harlin MC, Crawford F, Houlden H, Warren A, Hughes D, Fidani L, Goate A, Rossor M, Roques P, Hardy J, et al.: Early-onset alzheimer's disease caused by mutations at codon 717 of the beta-amyloid precursor protein gene. Nature 1991;353:844-846.

12 Hardy JA, Higgins GA: Alzheimer's disease: The amyloid cascade hypothesis. Science 1992;256:184-185.

Snowdon DA, Greiner LH, Mortimer JA, Riley KP, Greiner PA, Markesbery WR: Brain
 infarction and the clinical expression of alzheimer disease. The nun study. Jama 1997;277:813-817.
 Hughes CP, Berg L, Danziger WL, Coben LA, Martin RL: A new clinical scale for the

staging of dementia. Br J Psychiatry 1982;140:566-572.

15 Reisberg B, Ferris SH, de Leon MJ, Crook T: The global deterioration scale for assessment of primary degenerative dementia. Am J Psychiatry 1982;139:1136-1139.

16 Reisberg B, Ferris SH, Leon MJd, Franssen ESE, Kluger A, Mir P, Borenstein J, George AE, Shulman E, Steinberg G, Cohen J: Stage-specific behavioral, cognitive, and in vivo changes in community residing subjects with age-associated memory impairment and primary degenerative dementia of the alzheimer type. Drug Development Research 1988;15:101-114.

17 Petersen RC, Smith GE, Waring SC, Ivnik RJ, Tangalos EG, Kokmen E: Mild cognitive impairment: Clinical characterization and outcome. Archives of neurology 1999;56:303-308.

18 Geuze E, Vermetten E, Bremner JD: Mr-based in vivo hippocampal volumetrics: 2. Findings in neuropsychiatric disorders. Mol Psychiatry 2005;10:160-184.

19 Winblad B, Palmer K, Kivipelto M, Jelic V, Fratiglioni L, Wahlund LO, Nordberg A, Backman L, Albert M, Almkvist O, Arai H, Basun H, Blennow K, de Leon M, DeCarli C, Erkinjuntti T, Giacobini E, Graff C, Hardy J, Jack C, Jorm A, Ritchie K, van Duijn C, Visser P, Petersen RC: Mild cognitive impairment--beyond controversies, towards a consensus: Report of the international working group on mild cognitive impairment. Journal of internal medicine 2004;256:240-246.

20 Bischkopf J, Busse A, Angermeyer MC: Mild cognitive impairment--a review of prevalence, incidence and outcome according to current approaches. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2002;106:403-414.

21 Mitchell AJ, Shiri-Feshki M: Rate of progression of mild cognitive impairment to dementia--meta-analysis of 41 robust inception cohort studies. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2009;119:252-265.

22 Bennett DA, Schneider JA, Bienias JL, Evans DA, Wilson RS: Mild cognitive impairment is related to alzheimer disease pathology and cerebral infarctions. Neurology 2005;64:834-841.

23 Bokov A, Chaudhuri A, Richardson A: The role of oxidative damage and stress in aging. Mech Aging Dev 2004;125:811-826.

24 Jernigan TL, Archibald SL, Fennema-Notestine C, Gamst AC, Stout JC, Bonner J, Hesselink JR: Effects of age on tissues and regions of the cerebrum and cerebellum. Neurobiol Aging 2001;22:581-594.

Fotenos AF, Snyder AZ, Girton LE, Morris JC, Buckner RL: Normative estimates of cross-sectional and longitudinal brain volume decline in aging and ad. Neurology 2005;64:1032-1039.
Walhovd KB, Fjell AM, Reinvang I, Lundervold A, Dale AM, Eilertsen DE, Quinn BT, Salat D, Makris N, Fischl B: Effects of age on volumes of cortex, white matter and subcortical structures.

Neurobiol Aging 2005;26:1261-1270; discussion 1275-1268.

27 Giorgio A, Santelli L, Tomassini V, Bosnell R, Smith S, De Stefano N, Johansen-Berg H: Age-related changes in grey and white matter structure throughout adulthood. Neuroimage 2010;51:943-951.

Lupien SJ, Evans A, Lord C, Miles J, Pruessner M, Pike B, Pruessner JC: Hippocampal volume is as variable in young as in older adults: Implications for the notion of hippocampal atrophy in humans. Neuroimage 2007;34:479-485.

Good CD, Johnsrude IS, Ashburner J, Henson RN, Friston KJ, Frackowiak RS: A voxel-based morphometric study of aging in 465 normal adult human brains. NeuroImage 2001;14:21-36.
 Sullivan EV, Marsh L, Pfefferbaum A: Preservation of hippocampal volume throughout adulthood in healthy men and women. Neurobiol Aging 2005;26:1093-1098.

31 Grieve SM, Clark CR, Williams LM, Peduto AJ, Gordon E: Preservation of limbic and paralimbic structures in aging. Hum Brain Mapp 2005;25:391-401.

³² Park DC, Lautenschlager G, Hedden T, Davidson NS, Smith AD, Smith PK: Models of visuospatial and verbal memory across the adult life span. Psychol Aging 2002;17:299-320.

33 Wilson RS, Beck TL, Bienias JL, Bennett DA: Terminal cognitive decline: Accelerated loss of cognition in the last years of life. Psychosom Med 2007;69:131-137.

Thorvaldsson V, Hofer SM, Berg S, Skoog I, Sacuiu S, Johansson B: Onset of terminal decline in cognitive abilities in individuals without dementia. Neurology 2008;71:882-887.

McKhann G, Drachman D, Folstein M, Katzman R, Price D, Stadlan EM: Clinical diagnosis of alzheimer's disease: Report of the nincds-adrda work group under the auspices of department of health and human services task force on alzheimer's disease. Neurology 1984;34:939-944.

36 Cummings JL: Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med 2004;351:56-67.

37 Ravona-Springer R, Davidson M, Noy S: The role of cardiovascular risk factors in alzheimer's disease. CNS Spectr 2003;8:824-833.

38 Braak H, Braak E: Neuropathological staging of alzheimer-related changes. Acta neuropathologica 1991;82:239-259.

Blennow K, de Leon MJ, Zetterberg H: Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 2006;368:387-403.
Hung LW, Ciccotosto GD, Giannakis E, Tew DJ, Perez K, Masters CL, Cappai R, Wade JD,

Barnham KJ: Amyloid-beta peptide (abeta) neurotoxicity is modulated by the rate of peptide aggregation: Abeta dimers and trimers correlate with neurotoxicity. J Neurosci 2008;28:11950-11958.

41 Sakono M, Zako T: Amyloid oligomers: Formation and toxicity of abeta oligomers. FEBS J 2010;277:1348-1358.

42 Querfurth HW, LaFerla FM: Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med 2010;362:329-344.

43 Wallin AK, Blennow K, Andreasen N, Minthon L: Csf biomarkers for alzheimer's disease: Levels of beta-amyloid, tau, phosphorylated tau relate to clinical symptoms and survival. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2006;21:131-138.

44 de la Torre JC: Alzheimer disease as a vascular disorder: Nosological evidence. Stroke 2002;33:1152-1162.

45 de la Torre JC: Pathophysiology of neuronal energy crisis in alzheimer's disease. Neurodegener Dis 2008;5:126-132.

46 Skoog I: Risk factors for vascular dementia: A review. Dementia 1994;5:137-144.

47 Reisberg B, Franssen EH, Hasan SM, Monteiro I, Boksay I, Souren LE, Kenowsky S, Auer SR, Elahi S, Kluger A: Retrogenesis: Clinical, physiologic, and pathologic mechanisms in brain aging, alzheimer's and other dementing processes. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 1999;249 Suppl 3:28-36.

48 Bartzokis G: Age-related myelin breakdown: A developmental model of cognitive decline and alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 2004;25:5-18; author reply 49-62.

49 Choi SJ, Lim KO, Monteiro I, Reisberg B: Diffusion tensor imaging of frontal white matter microstructure in early alzheimer's disease: A preliminary study. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol 2005;18:12-19.

50 Stricker NH, Schweinsburg BC, Delano-Wood L, Wierenga CE, Bangen KJ, Haaland KY, Frank LR, Salmon DP, Bondi MW: Decreased white matter integrity in late-myelinating fiber pathways in alzheimer's disease supports retrogenesis. Neuroimage 2009;45:10-16.

51 Roman GC, Erkinjuntti T, Wallin A, Pantoni L, Chui HC: Subcortical ischaemic vascular dementia. Lancet Neurol 2002;1:426-436.

52 Chui H: Dementia due to subcortical ischemic vascular disease. Clin Cornerstone 2001;3:40-51.

53 Pantoni L: Cerebral small vessel disease: From pathogenesis and clinical characteristics to therapeutic challenges. Lancet Neurol 2010;9:689-701.

54 Wallin A, Milos V, Sjogren M, Pantoni L, Erkinjuntti T: Classification and subtypes of vascular dementia. Int Psychogeriatr 2003;15 Suppl 1:27-37.

55 Grinberg LT, Thal DR: Vascular pathology in the aged human brain. Acta Neuropathol 2010;119:277-290.

56 Nagy Z, Esiri MM, Jobst KA, Morris JH, King EM, McDonald B, Joachim C, Litchfield S, Barnetson L, Smith AD: The effects of additional pathology on the cognitive deficit in alzheimer disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 1997;56:165-170.

57 Zekry D, Duyckaerts C, Moulias R, Belmin J, Geoffre C, Herrmann F, Hauw JJ: Degenerative and vascular lesions of the brain have synergistic effects in dementia of the elderly. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 2002;103:481-487.

58 Pathological correlates of late-onset dementia in a multicentre, community-based population in england and wales. Neuropathology group of the medical research council cognitive function and aging study (mrc cfas). Lancet 2001;357:169-175.

59 Schneider JA, Arvanitakis Z, Bang W, Bennett DA: Mixed brain pathologies account for most dementia cases in community-dwelling older persons. Neurology 2007;69:2197-2204.

60 El-Falougy H, Benuska J: History, anatomical nomenclature, comparative anatomy and functions of the hippocampal formation. Bratisl Lek Listy 2006;107:103-106.

61 Eichenbaum H, Lipton PA: Towards a functional organization of the medial temporal lobe memory system: Role of the parahippocampal and medial entorhinal cortical areas. Hippocampus 2008;18:1314-1324.

62 Squire LR, Stark CE, Clark RE: The medial temporal lobe. Annu Rev Neurosci 2004;27:279-306.

63 Mohedano-Moriano A, Pro-Sistiaga P, Arroyo-Jimenez MM, Artacho-Perula E, Insausti AM, Marcos P, Cebada-Sanchez S, Martinez-Ruiz J, Munoz M, Blaizot X, Martinez-Marcos A, Amaral DG, Insausti R: Topographical and laminar distribution of cortical input to the monkey entorhinal cortex. J Anat 2007;211:250-260.

64 Balu DT, Lucki I: Adult hippocampal neurogenesis: Regulation, functional implications, and contribution to disease pathology. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 2009;33:232-252.

65 Deng W, Aimone JB, Gage FH: New neurons and new memories: How does adult hippocampal neurogenesis affect learning and memory? Nat Rev Neurosci 2010;11:339-350.

66 Gould E, Beylin A, Tanapat P, Reeves A, Shors TJ: Learning enhances adult neurogenesis in the hippocampal formation. Nat Neurosci 1999;2:260-265.

67 Dupret D, Fabre A, Dobrossy MD, Panatier A, Rodriguez JJ, Lamarque S, Lemaire V, Oliet SH, Piazza PV, Abrous DN: Spatial learning depends on both the addition and removal of new hippocampal neurons. PLoS Biol 2007;5:e214.

68 Kempermann G, Kuhn HG, Gage FH: More hippocampal neurons in adult mice living in an enriched environment. Nature 1997;386:493-495.

69 van Praag H, Shubert T, Zhao C, Gage FH: Exercise enhances learning and hippocampal neurogenesis in aged mice. J Neurosci 2005;25:8680-8685.

70 Thompson PM, Cannon TD, Narr KL, van Erp T, Poutanen VP, Huttunen M, Lonnqvist J, Standertskjold-Nordenstam CG, Kaprio J, Khaledy M, Dail R, Zoumalan CI, Toga AW: Genetic influences on brain structure. Nat Neurosci 2001;4:1253-1258.

Sullivan EV, Pfefferbaum A, Swan GE, Carmelli D: Heritability of hippocampal size in
 elderly twin men: Equivalent influence from genes and environment. Hippocampus 2001;11:754-762.
 Erdem A, Yasargil G, Roth P: Microsurgical anatomy of the hippocampal arteries. J
 Neurosurg 1993;79:256-265.

73 Hossmann KA: The hypoxic brain. Insights from ischemia research. Adv Exp Med Biol 1999;474:155-169.

74 Macri MA, D'Alessandro N, Di Giulio C, Di Iorio P, Di Luzio S, Giuliani P, Esposito E, Pokorski M: Region-specific effects on brain metabolites of hypoxia and hyperoxia overlaid on cerebral ischemia in young and old rats: A quantitative proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. J Biomed Sci 2010;17:14.

75 Milner B: Interhemispheric differences in the localization of psychological processes in man. Br Med Bull 1971;27:272-277.

76 Kennepohl S, Sziklas V, Garver KE, Wagner DD, Jones-Gotman M: Memory and the medial temporal lobe: Hemispheric specialization reconsidered. Neuroimage 2007;36:969-978.

77 Peters J, Thoma P, Koch B, Schwarz M, Daum I: Impairment of verbal recollection following ischemic damage to the right anterior hippocampus. Cortex 2009;45:592-601.

78 Baxendale S: Amnesia in temporal lobectomy patients: Historical perspective and review. Seizure 1998;7:15-24.

79 Maller JJ, Reglade-Meslin C, Anstey KJ, Sachdev P: Sex and symmetry differences in hippocampal volumetrics: Before and beyond the opening of the crus of the fornix. Hippocampus 2006;16:80-90.

80 Shi F, Liu B, Zhou Y, Yu C, Jiang T: Hippocampal volume and asymmetry in mild cognitive impairment and alzheimer's disease: Meta-analyses of mri studies. Hippocampus 2009

81 Good CD, Johnsrude I, Ashburner J, Henson RN, Friston KJ, Frackowiak RS: Cerebral asymmetry and the effects of sex and handedness on brain structure: A voxel-based morphometric analysis of 465 normal adult human brains. Neuroimage 2001;14:685-700.

Anstey KJ, Maller JJ, Meslin C, Christensen H, Jorm AF, Wen W, Sachdev P: Hippocampal and amygdalar volumes in relation to handedness in adults aged 60-64. Neuroreport 2004;15:2825-2829.

83 Kulynych JJ, Vladar K, Jones DW, Weinberger DR: Gender differences in the normal lateralization of the supratemporal cortex: Mri surface-rendering morphometry of heschl's gyrus and the planum temporale. Cereb Cortex 1994;4:107-118.

84 Englund E: Neuropathology of white matter lesions in vascular cognitive impairment. Cerebrovasc Dis 2002;13 Suppl 2:11-15.

85 Inzitari D, Pracucci G, Poggesi A, Carlucci G, Barkhof F, Chabriat H, Erkinjuntti T, Fazekas F, Ferro JM, Hennerici M, Langhorne P, O'Brien J, Scheltens P, Visser MC, Wahlund LO, Waldemar G, Wallin A, Pantoni L: Changes in white matter as determinant of global functional decline in older independent outpatients: Three year follow-up of ladis (leukoaraiosis and disability) study cohort. BMJ 2009;339:b2477.

86 Schmidt R, Ropele S, Enzinger C, Petrovic K, Smith S, Schmidt H, Matthews PM, Fazekas F: White matter lesion progression, brain atrophy, and cognitive decline: The austrian stroke prevention study. Ann Neurol 2005;58:610-616.

87 Godin O, Maillard P, Crivello F, Alperovitch A, Mazoyer B, Tzourio C, Dufouil C: Association of white-matter lesions with brain atrophy markers: The three-city dijon mri study. Cerebrovasc Dis 2009;28:177-184. 88 Mungas D, Jagust WJ, Reed BR, Kramer JH, Weiner MW, Schuff N, Norman D, Mack WJ, Willis L, Chui HC: Mri predictors of cognition in subcortical ischemic vascular disease and alzheimer's disease. Neurology 2001;57:2229-2235.

de Leeuw FE, Barkhof F, Scheltens P: White matter lesions and hippocampal atrophy in alzheimer's disease. Neurology 2004;62:310-312.

90 Du AT, Schuff N, Chao LL, Kornak J, Ezekiel F, Jagust WJ, Kramer JH, Reed BR, Miller BL, Norman D, Chui HC, Weiner MW: White matter lesions are associated with cortical atrophy more than entorhinal and hippocampal atrophy. Neurobiol Aging 2005;26:553-559.

91 Andreasen N, Blennow K: Csf biomarkers for mild cognitive impairment and early alzheimer's disease. Clinical neurology and neurosurgery 2005;107:165-173.

92 Blennow K: Cerebrospinal fluid protein biomarkers for alzheimer's disease. NeuroRx 2004;1:213-225.

93 Hansson O, Zetterberg H, Buchhave P, Londos E, Blennow K, Minthon L: Association between csf biomarkers and incipient alzheimer's disease in patients with mild cognitive impairment: A follow-up study. Lancet neurology 2006;5:228-234.

Mattsson N, Zetterberg H, Hansson O, Andreasen N, Parnetti L, Jonsson M, Herukka SK, van der Flier WM, Blankenstein MA, Ewers M, Rich K, Kaiser E, Verbeek M, Tsolaki M, Mulugeta E, Rosen E, Aarsland D, Visser PJ, Schroder J, Marcusson J, de Leon M, Hampel H, Scheltens P, Pirttila T, Wallin A, Jonhagen ME, Minthon L, Winblad B, Blennow K: Csf biomarkers and incipient alzheimer disease in patients with mild cognitive impairment. JAMA 2009;302:385-393.

95 Brys M, Pirraglia E, Rich K, Rolstad S, Mosconi L, Switalski R, Glodzik-Sobanska L, De Santi S, Zinkowski R, Mehta P, Pratico D, Saint Louis LA, Wallin A, Blennow K, de Leon MJ: Prediction and longitudinal study of csf biomarkers in mild cognitive impairment. Neurobiol Aging 2007

2etterberg H, Pedersen M, Lind K, Svensson M, Rolstad S, Eckerstrom C, Syversen S, Mattsson UB, Ysander C, Mattsson N, Nordlund A, Vanderstichele H, Vanmechelen E, Jonsson M, Edman A, Blennow K, Wallin A: Intra-individual stability of csf biomarkers for alzheimer's disease over two years. J Alzheimers Dis 2007;12:255-260.

97 Rosengren LE, Karlsson JE, Sjogren M, Blennow K, Wallin A: Neurofilament protein levels in csf are increased in dementia. Neurology 1999;52:1090-1093.

98 Wallin A, Sjogren M: Cerebrospinal fluid cytoskeleton proteins in patients with subcortical white-matter dementia. Mech Aging Dev 2001;122:1937-1949.

99 Bjerke M, Andreasson U, Rolstad S, Nordlund A, Lind K, Zetterberg H, Edman A, Blennow K, Wallin A: Subcortical vascular dementia biomarker pattern in mild cognitive impairment. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2009;28:348-356.

100 Jonsson M, Zetterberg H, van Straaten E, Lind K, Syversen S, Edman A, Blennow K, Rosengren L, Pantoni L, Inzitari D, Wallin A: Cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers of white matter lesions cross-sectional results from the ladis study. Eur J Neurol 2010;17:377-382.

101 Nordlund A, Rolstad S, Hellstrom P, Sjogren M, Hansen S, Wallin A: The goteborg mci study: Mild cognitive impairment is a heterogeneous condition. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry 2005;76:1485-1490.

102 Lopez OL, Becker JT, Jagust WJ, Fitzpatrick A, Carlson MC, DeKosky ST, Breitner J, Lyketsos CG, Jones B, Kawas C, Kuller LH: Neuropsychological characteristics of mild cognitive impairment subgroups. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2006;77:159-165.

103 Twamley EW, Ropacki SA, Bondi MW: Neuropsychological and neuroimaging changes in preclinical alzheimer's disease. J Int Neuropsychol Soc 2006;12:707-735.

104 Graham NL, Emery T, Hodges JR: Distinctive cognitive profiles in alzheimer's disease and subcortical vascular dementia. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2004;75:61-71.

105 Nordlund A, Rolstad S, Klang O, Lind K, Pedersen M, Blennow K, Edman A, Hansen S, Wallin A: Episodic memory and speed/attention deficits are associated with alzheimer-typical csf abnormalities in mci. J Int Neuropsychol Soc 2008;14:582-590.

106 Nordlund A, Rolstad S, Klang O, Lind K, Hansen S, Wallin A: Cognitive profiles of mild cognitive impairment with and without vascular disease. Neuropsychology 2007;21:706-712.

107 O'Brien JT, Erkinjuntti T, Reisberg B, Roman G, Sawada T, Pantoni L, Bowler JV, Ballard C, DeCarli C, Gorelick PB, Rockwood K, Burns A, Gauthier S, DeKosky ST: Vascular cognitive impairment. Lancet Neurol 2003;2:89-98.

Backman L, Small BJ: Cognitive deficits in preclinical alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia: Patterns of findings from the kungsholmen project. Physiol Behav 2007;92:80-86.
de Leon MJ, George AE, Stylopoulos LA, Smith G, Miller DC: Early marker for

alzheimer's disease: The atrophic hippocampus. Lancet 1989;2:672-673.

110 Bouwman FH, Schoonenboom SN, van der Flier WM, van Elk EJ, Kok A, Barkhof F, Blankenstein MA, Scheltens P: Csf biomarkers and medial temporal lobe atrophy predict dementia in mild cognitive impairment. Neurobiol Aging 2007;28:1070-1074.

Devanand DP, Pradhaban G, Liu X, Khandji A, De Santi S, Segal S, Rusinek H, Pelton GH, Honig LS, Mayeux R, Stern Y, Tabert MH, de Leon MJ: Hippocampal and entorhinal atrophy in mild cognitive impairment: Prediction of alzheimer disease. Neurology 2007;68:828-836.

112 DeCarli C, Frisoni GB, Clark CM, Harvey D, Grundman M, Petersen RC, Thal LJ, Jin S, Jack CR, Jr, Scheltens P, for the Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study Group: Qualitative estimates of medial temporal atrophy as a predictor of progression from mild cognitive impairment to dementia

10.1001/archneur.64.1.108. Arch Neurol 2007;64:108-115.

113 Csernansky JG, Wang L, Swank J, Miller JP, Gado M, McKeel D, Miller MI, Morris JC: Preclinical detection of alzheimer's disease: Hippocampal shape and volume predict dementia onset in the elderly. Neuroimage 2005;25:783-792.

114 Chetelat G, Baron JC: Early diagnosis of alzheimer's disease: Contribution of structural neuroimaging. Neuroimage 2003;18:525-541.

115 Apostolova LG, Dutton RA, Dinov ID, Hayashi KM, Toga AW, Cummings JL, Thompson PM: Conversion of mild cognitive impairment to alzheimer disease predicted by hippocampal atrophy maps. Arch Neurol 2006;63:693-699.

Pennanen C, Kivipelto M, Tuomainen S, Hartikainen P, Hanninen T, Laakso MP, Hallikainen M, Vanhanen M, Nissinen A, Helkala EL, Vainio P, Vanninen R, Partanen K, Soininen H: Hippocampus and entorhinal cortex in mild cognitive impairment and early ad. Neurobiol Aging 2004;25:303-310.

117 Hensel A, Wolf H, Dieterlen T, Riedel-Heller S, Arendt T, Gertz HJ: Morphometry of the amygdala in patients with questionable dementia and mild dementia. J Neurol Sci 2005;238:71-74.

118 den Heijer T, Geerlings MI, Hoebeek FE, Hofman A, Koudstaal PJ, Breteler MM: Use of hippocampal and amygdalar volumes on magnetic resonance imaging to predict dementia in cognitively intact elderly people. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2006;63:57-62.

119Jarvenpaa T, Laakso MP, Rossi R, Koskenvuo M, Kaprio J, Raiha I, Kurki T, Laine M,Frisoni GB, Rinne JO: Hippocampal mri volumetry in cognitively discordant monozygotic twin pairs.Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry 2004;75:116-120.

120 Jack CR, Jr., Shiung MM, Gunter JL, O'Brien PC, Weigand SD, Knopman DS, Boeve BF, Ivnik RJ, Smith GE, Cha RH, Tangalos EG, Petersen RC: Comparison of different mri brain atrophy rate measures with clinical disease progression in ad. Neurology 2004;62:591-600.

121 Schuff N, Woerner N, Boreta L, Kornfield T, Shaw LM, Trojanowski JQ, Thompson PM, Jack CR, Jr., Weiner MW: Mri of hippocampal volume loss in early alzheimer's disease in relation to apoe genotype and biomarkers. Brain 2009;132:1067-1077.

122 Du AT, Schuff N, Laakso MP, Zhu XP, Jagust WJ, Yaffe K, Kramer JH, Miller BL, Reed BR, Norman D, Chui HC, Weiner MW: Effects of subcortical ischemic vascular dementia and ad on entorhinal cortex and hippocampus. Neurology 2002;58:1635-1641. 123 Fein G, Di Sclafani V, Tanabe J, Cardenas V, Weiner MW, Jagust WJ, Reed BR, Norman D, Schuff N, Kusdra L, Greenfield T, Chui H: Hippocampal and cortical atrophy predict dementia in subcortical ischemic vascular disease. Neurology 2000;55:1626-1635.

124 Wallin A, Edman A, Blennow K, Gottfries CG, Karlsson I, Regland B, Sjogren M: Stepwise comparative status analysis (step): A tool for identification of regional brain syndromes in dementia. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol 1996;9:185-199.

125 Royall DR, Mahurin RK, Gray KF: Bedside assessment of executive cognitive impairment: The executive interview. J Am Geriatr Soc 1992;40:1221-1226.

126 Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR: "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. Journal of psychiatric research 1975;12:189-198.

127 Morris JC: Clinical dementia rating: A reliable and valid diagnostic and staging measure for dementia of the alzheimer type. Int Psychogeriatr 1997;9 Suppl 1:173-176; discussion 177-178.

128 Erkinjuntti T, Inzitari D, Pantoni L, Wallin A, Scheltens P, Rockwood K, Roman GC, Chui H, Desmond DW: Research criteria for subcortical vascular dementia in clinical trials. J Neural Transm Suppl 2000;59:23-30.

129 Clinical and neuropathological criteria for frontotemporal dementia. The lund and manchester groups. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry 1994;57:416-418.

130 McKeith IG, Galasko D, Kosaka K, Perry EK, Dickson DW, Hansen LA, Salmon DP, Lowe J, Mirra SS, Byrne EJ, Lennox G, Quinn NP, Edwardson JA, Ince PG, Bergeron C, Burns A, Miller BL, Lovestone S, Collerton D, Jansen EN, Ballard C, de Vos RA, Wilcock GK, Jellinger KA, Perry RH: Consensus guidelines for the clinical and pathologic diagnosis of dementia with lewy bodies (dlb): Report of the consortium on dlb international workshop. Neurology 1996;47:1113-1124.

131 WHO: The icd-10 classification of mental and behavioural disorders: Clinical descriptions and diagnostic guidelines. Geneva, 1992.

132 Geuze E, Vermetten E, Bremner JD: Mr-based in vivo hippocampal volumetrics: 1. Review of methodologies currently employed. Mol Psychiatry 2005;10:147-159.

133 Duvernoy H: The human hippocampus, ed Third. Springer, 2005.

134 Pantel J, Cretsinger K, Keefe H: Hippocampus tracing guidelines. Iowa; University of Iowa Mental Health Clinical Research Center (MHCRC) 1998

135 Pantel J, O'Leary DS, Cretsinger K, Bockholt HJ, Keefe H, Magnotta VA, Andreasen NC: A new method for the in vivo volumetric measurement of the human hippocampus with high neuroanatomical accuracy. Hippocampus 2000;10:752-758.

136 Fischl B, Salat DH, Busa E, Albert M, Dieterich M, Haselgrove C, van der Kouwe A, Killiany R, Kennedy D, Klaveness S, Montillo A, Makris N, Rosen B, Dale AM: Whole brain segmentation: Automated labeling of neuroanatomical structures in the human brain. Neuron 2002;33:341-355.

137 Fischl B, Salat DH, van der Kouwe AJ, Makris N, Segonne F, Quinn BT, Dale AM: Sequence-independent segmentation of magnetic resonance images. Neuroimage 2004;23 Suppl 1:S69-84.

138 Caroli A, Frisoni GB: The dynamics of alzheimer's disease biomarkers in the alzheimer's disease neuroimaging initiative cohort. Neurobiol Aging 2010;31:1263-1274.

139Starkman MN, Giordani B, Gebarski SS, Schteingart DE: Improvement in learning
associated with increase in hippocampal formation volume. Biol Psychiatry 2003;53:233-238.

140 Malberg JE, Schechter LE: Increasing hippocampal neurogenesis: A novel mechanism for antidepressant drugs. Curr Pharm Des 2005;11:145-155.

141 Kril JJ, Patel S, Harding AJ, Halliday GM: Patients with vascular dementia due to microvascular pathology have significant hippocampal neuronal loss. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2002;72:747-751.

142 Appelman AP, Exalto LG, van der Graaf Y, Biessels GJ, Mali WP, Geerlings MI: White matter lesions and brain atrophy: More than shared risk factors? A systematic review. Cerebrovasc Dis 2009;28:227-242.

143 Ott BR, Saver JL: Unilateral amnesic stroke. Six new cases and a review of the literature. Stroke 1993;24:1033-1042.

144 Nishio K, Ihara M, Yamasaki N, Kalaria RN, Maki T, Fujita Y, Ito H, Oishi N, Fukuyama H, Miyakawa T, Takahashi R, Tomimoto H: A mouse model characterizing features of vascular dementia with hippocampal atrophy. Stroke 2010;41:1278-1284.

Barnes J, Scahill RI, Schott JM, Frost C, Rossor MN, Fox NC: Does alzheimer's disease affect hippocampal asymmetry? Evidence from a cross-sectional and longitudinal volumetric mri study. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2005;19:338-344.

146 Geroldi C, Laakso MP, DeCarli C, Beltramello A, Bianchetti A, Soininen H, Trabucchi M, Frisoni GB: Apolipoprotein e genotype and hippocampal asymmetry in alzheimer's disease: A volumetric mri study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2000;68:93-96.

147 Morra JH, Tu Z, Apostolova LG, Green AE, Avedissian C, Madsen SK, Parikshak N, Toga AW, Jack CR, Jr., Schuff N, Weiner MW, Thompson PM: Automated mapping of hippocampal atrophy in 1-year repeat mri data from 490 subjects with alzheimer's disease, mild cognitive impairment, and elderly controls. Neuroimage 2009;45:S3-15.

148 Pardoe HR, Pell GS, Abbott DF, Jackson GD: Hippocampal volume assessment in temporal lobe epilepsy: How good is automated segmentation? Epilepsia 2009

149 Tae WS, Kim SS, Lee KU, Nam EC, Kim KW: Validation of hippocampal volumes measured using a manual method and two automated methods (freesurfer and ibaspm) in chronic major depressive disorder. Neuroradiology 2008;50:569-581.

150 Enzinger C, Fazekas F, Ropele S, Schmidt R: Progression of cerebral white matter lesions -- clinical and radiological considerations. J Neurol Sci 2007;257:5-10.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all who have made this work possible:

- Åke Edman, my supervisor, for much encouragement, expert advice, and for always being dependable. Also, for the interesting conversations and for providing the insight that if science isn't fun, you're doing it the wrong way.
- Anders Wallin, my co-supervisor, for providing scientific guidance and making me feel confident that this work was worth pursuing. Also, for the contagious enthusiasm and passion about the field.

- Helge Malmgren, my co-supervisor, for teaching me a thorough and thoughtful way of performing scientific work. Also for providing sophisticated perspectives from adjacent fields, and of course, for the endless cups of tea.
- Erik Olsson, expert hippocampal segmenter and close collaborator, for teaching how to measure the elusive structure and for the long and rewarding discussions on how to interpret the results.
- Eva Bringman, Ewa Styrud and Christina Holmberg, research nurses crucial for the success of the study, and for the high spirits in the research group.
- Sindre Rolstad who, although not much senior than the author, showed him the sides of science they don't teach you at basblocket. Such as how to prepare a manuscript for submission and how to use Excel properly. Also for the coffee and the banter.
- Niklas Klasson who enthusiastically and competently took charge of FreeSurfer, and soon could deliver much needed volumes.
- Karin Lind and Michael Jonsson for giving valuable scientific advice and providing guidance in the intricacies of MCI diagnostics. With a friendly smile, even on Monday morning.
- Maria Bjerke for sharing the frustrations of a PhD student during meetings and courses. Also for the great discussions and for designing beautiful figures.
- Mattias Göthlin for taming the database and for providing excellent assistance.
- Arto Nordlund for providing valuable insights and experience.
- Ann-Christin Näslund and Anna Abrahamsen for expertly guiding the young doctor, and for providing valuable contribution to the Göteborg MCI study.
- All my co-authors for valuable contributions and constructive comments.

The research group at Mölndal memory clinic for providing an excellent climate for scientific work.

All the staff at the memory clinic in Mölndal for making it a great place to work.

My parents Cecilia and Claes-Göran, and Sophie, Gustaf, and Pelle for the support, proofreading and for trying to understand what I have been doing these last years.

Marie Gustavsson for all the love, and for all the scientific and unscientific discussions.

This work was made possible by grants from Alzheimerfonden, Demensförbundet, Sahlgrenska University Hospital, the Swedish Research Council, Handlanden Hjalmar Svenssons Forskningsfond, Pfannenstills Forskningsstiftelse, Axel Linders Stiftelse, Stiftelsen Gamla Tjänarinnor, the Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences and Stiftelsen Psykiatriska Forskningsfonden.